FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 1/2/2025 11:13 AM No. 57052-1-II

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/2/2025 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Case #: 1037490

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

REYNALDO S. VERDUZCO,

Petitioner,

v.

KING COUNTY, WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Susan B. Mindenbergs WSBA #20545 Law Office of Susan B. Mindenbergs 705 Second Avenue, Suite 1050 Seattle, WA 98104-1759 (206) 447-1560 Philip A. Talmadge WSBA #6973 2775 Harbor Avenue SW Third Floor, Suite C Seattle, WA 98126 (206) 574-6661

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Reynaldo S. Verduzco seeks review of the Court of Appeals, Division II, decision set forth in Part B.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Division II filed its opinion on July 30, 2024, Verduzco filed a timely motion for reconsideration that Division II finally denied on December 2, 2024. Copies are in the Appendix.

Division II reversed a race discrimination retaliation judgment on the jury's verdict against King County ("County") that exceeded \$2.07 million. This case involves racial discrimination against Verduzco, a Latino County employee. Verduzco's case was based on disparate treatment on the basis of race and retaliation for reporting racial discrimination under RCW 49.60, Washington's Law Against Discrimination ("WLAD"). The jury found for Verduzco on retaliation, but not on the disparate treatment cause of action.

Division II reversed the judgment on the jury's verdict based on its perception that Instruction 8's discussion on adverse employment impact for both the disparate treatment and retaliation claims was somehow "confusing and misleading," even though the directions regarding the use of the applicable WPI instructions authorizes combination of the "adversity" definition in the same instruction. Division II failed to conduct a harmless error analysis as to this allegedly flawed instruction.

Race discrimination cases are different and require special sensitivity, as this Court's open letter to the bar on race discrimination confirms:

We can develop a greater awareness of our own conscious and unconscious biases in order to make just decisions in individual cases, and we can administer justice and support court rules in a way that brings greater racial justice to our system as a whole.

See <u>https://www.courts.wa.gov/</u>. Division II's decision failed to do the necessary hard work to eradicate racism this Court called upon justice system participants to undertake, as set out in the WLAD.

This Court should grant review, RAP 13.4(b), and reverse

Division II.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. In a race discrimination case under the WLAD, where the trial court instructed the jury on whether an employer committed an adverse employment action both in a disparate treatment claim and a retaliation claim in the same instruction, did the Court of Appeals err in holding that such an instruction was confusing and misleading, and therefore erroneous, so as to require reversal of the judgment on the jury's verdict when the Notes on Use for the pertinent instructions allow their combination in a single instruction?

2. Did the Court of Appeals err in failing to conduct a harmless error analysis in a racial discrimination retaliation case as to an allegedly erroneous instruction, and instead reversing the judgment on the jury's verdict in favor of a Latino victim of discrimination because it presumed the allegedly erroneous instruction was prejudicial to the defendant?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Division II addresses the facts and procedure in this case at length. That extensive discussion, if anything, only documents how the County retaliated against Verduzco for reporting discrimination by the County. Op. 2-17. But the Court's factual discussion is flawed in several aspects that only further sustain the jury's verdict, requiring special mention here.

Division II's opinion fails to mention several employees' testimony about the years of County managers' racially-charged insensitivity regarding lower-level employees and racism in the County's Hazardous Waste Program ("HWP"). Ex. 84; RP 940, 960, 1022, 2269-70. In this environment, Linda Van Hooser, the HWP's public health liaison, described Verduzco as being "very serious about ensuring that we implement racial equity into our work, very businesslike "RP 1233. Larry Brown, a 33-year County veteran and team member on the auto paints project team Verduzco led, described Verduzco's effectiveness as a team leader. RP 824-25. Brown stated that Verduzco taught the team members important principles of equity and racial justice noting that the team works mostly with communities of color. RP 827-28. Brown said that Verduzco's teachings about racial equity were "life changing." "I would say it was life changing for me, that I will also be grateful for." RP 832-33.

On December 5, 2018, when Verduzco and other

employees were conducting interviews with candidates for a HWP position, manager Joan Lee called Verduzco, yelling and berating him. RP 1460-61. During this call, Lee interrupted Verduzco and directed him not to say a word when he asked why she was so angry, but just to listen to what she had to say, and to go away and think about it. RP 511, 1461. Verduzco explained that Lee's tirade, in this racially-charged environment, made him feel like she considered him "like a dumb Mexican." RP 1462. The County refused to conduct an investigation after Verduzco complained about Lee's tirade. RP 1467. He felt "dehumanized" and "marginalized" when the County failed even to investigate his racism complaint. RP 1465.

Verduzco sought counsel with his colleagues and complained to HWP upper management about the racism he experienced from Lee. RP 1538-41. Subsequently, and immediately thereafter, Verduzco was subjected to poor performance reviews for the first time in his 28-year County tenure, administrative leave for five months, suspension without pay, and a demotion by Lee. RP 558-59, 563, 853, 1103, 1454-56, 1540-41.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

Division II's opinion upends a jury verdict in a case involving retaliation for reporting racial discrimination based on its mistaken view that an instruction on the adverse impact of the County's conduct as to those claims was flawed when it essentially combined two WPI instructions, and complied with the WPI Notes on Use for the instructions on adverse impact that allowed their combination in a single instruction, and the County was not prejudiced by the instruction, even if it was erroneously given (which it was not). Review is merited. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (4).

> (1) <u>This Court Should Not Lightly Condone the</u> <u>Overturning of a Jury Verdict in a Retaliation/Race</u> <u>Discrimination Case under the WLAD</u>

This Court has repeatedly noted that RCW 49.60 is to be liberally construed to achieve the vital public policy of abating discrimination. The WLAD makes clear that employment without gender-based discrimination is a *civil right*, RCW 49.60.010, and it is actionable when a person suffers discrimination by an employer. RCW 49.60.030(2); *Martini v. Boeing Co.*, 137 Wn.2d 357, 367-68, 374-75, 971 P.2d 45 (1999). The WLAD fulfills the Washington Constitution's civil rights provisions; the failure to enforce the right to be free of discrimination "menaces the institutions and foundation of a free democratic state." RCW 49.60.010. WLAD's provisions are "be construed liberally for the accomplishment of [WLAD's purpose of defeating discrimination]," RCW 49.60.020.

This interpretative imperative required Division II to view with caution any actions as to the WLAD that would *narrow* the coverage of the law, *Marquis v. City of Spokane* 130 Wn.2d 97, 108, 922 P.2d 43 (1996); *Phillips v. City of Seattle*, 111 Wn.2d 903, 908, 766 P.2d 1099 (1989); *Lodis v. Corbis Holdings, Inc.*, 172 Wn. App. 835, 848, 292 P.3d 779 (2013), or any argument that would undercut the jury's decisionmaking in a racial discrimination case.

Instead, Division II offered a hyper-technical reading of Instruction 8 to upend the jury's verdict. This hyper-technical reading is not only unsupported on traditional principles, as noted *supra*, it flies in the face of this Court's open letter to the bar on race and the WLAD's liberal interpretation. Review is merited. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

(2) <u>Division II's Decision Fails to Honor the Jury's</u> <u>Verdict in a WLAD Case</u>

As a backdrop for this discussion of the specific grounds for review under RAP 13.4(b), critical analytical points regarding reviewing by this Court of jury decisions apply with full force. For example, this Court has established the starting point in an analysis of jury verdicts – jury verdicts are presumed to stand because the jury's decisionmaking role is "the bedrock of our justice system." *Coogan v. Borg-Warner Morse Tec, Inc.*, 197 Wn.2d 790, 799, 490 P.3d 200 (2021). Jury fact finding is constitutionally protected. Wash. Const. art. 1 § 22; *James v.* *Robeck*, 79 Wn.2d 864, 869, 490 P.2d 878 (1971). Juries' verdicts are strongly presumed to be correct and are not lightly overruled on appeal. *Sofie v. Fibreboard Corp.*, 112 Wn.2d 636, 654, 771 P.2d 711 (1989).

Jury instructions generally are sufficient when they allow the parties to argue their theory of the case, are not misleading, and apply the applicable law, and an erroneous instruction is reversible error only if it prejudices a party. *Anfinson v. FedEx Ground Package Sys., Inc.*, 174 Wn.2d 851, 860, 281 P.3d 289 (2012).

For the reasons set forth in section (1), the principle of respect for jury verdicts is particularly acute in WLAD race discrimination cases.

(3) <u>Instruction 8 Was Not a Misstatement of the Law or</u> <u>Confusing to the Jury</u>

In a mere six pages of its opening brief at 40-46,¹ the

¹ The County argued *multiple* non-meritorious grounds for reversal in its brief. Op. 1. Division II specifically rejected the County's claim of error as to Instruction 9 on retaliation, op. 20-

County argued that Instruction 8 was confusing and could lead the jury to apply both retaliation and disparate treatment standards. RP 1999. The County did not argue that Instruction 8 misstated the law or that it prejudiced the County in any way, merely that it may be confusing if applied to both discrimination and retaliation claims. *Id.* Verduzco's response was brief, involving essentially a single page. Resp't Br. at 29-30. Nevertheless, Division II reversed the judgment on the jury's verdict on this incredibly thin argument because the instruction failed to differentiate between adverse employer action as to disparate treatment and retaliation claims. Op. 26-27.

WPI 330.06 and WPI 330.01.02 address whether an adverse employment action is present in a retaliation claim and a disparate treatment claim under the WLAD, respectively. The Note on Use for both instructions directs that the instructions may be combined where the case involves both types of claims,

^{23,} but it did not address other issues the County raised. Op. 27.

just as the trial court did here. *See* Appendix. Regarding adverse employer actions, the burdens are different: a disparate treatment claim must demonstrate the action "materially affect[ed] the terms and conditions of a person's employment," whereas a retaliation claim "need not materially affect the terms and conditions of employment so long as a reasonable employee would have found the action materially adverse, which means it might have 'dissuaded a reasonable worker from making or supporting a charge of discrimination' or deterred the charging party from engaging in protected activity."

Combining the instruction with no differentiation placed an additional burden on Verduzco and was neither an incorrect statement of the law nor was it prejudicial to the County. First, while Instruction 8 differentiates between disparate treatment and retaliation claims, it did not misstate the law. In *Burlington Northern & Santa Fe Railway Co. v. White*, 548 U.S. 53, 67-68, 126 S. Ct. 2405, 165 L. Ed. 2d 341 (2006), the U.S. Supreme Court distinguished an adverse employment action in the context of a retaliation claim and a disparate treatment claim. Although an adverse employment action for purposes of a disparate treatment claim must materially affect the terms and conditions of a person's employment, an adverse action in the context of a retaliation claim need not materially affect the terms and conditions of employment so long as it "dissuaded a reasonable worker from making or supporting a charge of discrimination" or deterred the charging party from engaging in protected activity. In *Boyd v. State*, 187 Wn. App. 1, 14-15, 349 P.3d 864 (2015), a retaliation case, Division II upheld an adverse employment action instruction derived from *Burlington Northern* that stated:

> An adverse employment action is defined as an employment action or decision that constitutes an adverse change in the circumstances of employment. An employment action is adverse if it is harmful to the point that it would dissuade a reasonable employee from making complaints of sexual harassment or retaliation. An adverse employment action must involve a change in employment conditions that is more than an inconvenience or alteration of job responsibilities.

Instruction 8 stated:

The term "adverse" means unfavorable or disadvantageous. An employment action is adverse if it is harmful to the point that it would dissuade a reasonable employee from making a complaint of discrimination. Whether a particular action is adverse is judged from the perspective of a reasonable person in the [sic] Mr. Verduzco's position. An adverse employment action is one that *materially* affects the terms, conditions, or privileges of employment.

CP 2542 (emphasis added). The requirement that an adverse employment action must *materially* affect the terms, conditions, or privileges of employment was plainly correct as to a disparate treatment claim, but it *placed an additional burden on Verduzco* regarding the retaliation claim because the *Burlington Northern* court found that requiring a material effect to the terms and conditions of employment was a *more stringent* standard than merely requiring that the action would dissuade a reasonable employee from making a complaint of discrimination. 548 U.S. at 70 ("Our holding today makes clear that the jury was not required to find that the challenged actions were related to the terms or conditions of employment.").

Division II found that Instruction 8 was a misstatement of the law because it combined the adverse employment requirements for Verduzco's retaliation and disparate treatment claims. Op. 26. But Division II is wrong. Combining the two WPIs does not render Instruction 8 a misstatement of the law. To be a misstatement of the law, an instruction would necessarily require an *incorrect* standard. See, e.g., Keller v. City of Spokane, 146 Wn.2d 237, 44 P.3d 845 (2002) (jury instruction that stated an incorrect standard for negligence in an intersection case); *Roemmich v. 3M Co.*, 21 Wn. App. 2d 939, 949, 509 P.3d 306, review denied, 200 Wn.2d 1015 (2022) (court gave an instruction that misstated proximate cause in an asbestos case). Instruction 8 correctly stated the law as to adverse employer action; at most, the instruction simply didn't differentiate between two correct employer impact standards. As will be noted *infra*, Division II should not have assumed prejudice without proof. *Hendrickson* v. Moses Lake School. Dist., 192 Wn.2d 269, 281-82, 428 P.3d 1197 (2018).

Verduzco argued that the County discriminated against him by treating him disparately based on his race and it retaliated against him for making complaints about workplace race discrimination. Instruction 8 on adverse employment actions was based on WPI 330.01.02² and WPI 330.06.³ The instructions mirrored the WPI instructions and did not misstate the law.

The jury was fully capable of applying the proper definition of "adverse" to the appropriate claim. Juries are presumed to follow the trial court's instructions. *State v. Perez-*

² In *Sidibe v. Pierce County*, 14 Wn. App. 2d 1045, 2020 WL 5797901 (2020) (unpublished), Division II reversed a CR 12(c) dismissal of a disparate treatment claim, recognizing WPI 330.01.02 for the definition of adverse employment action. *Id.* at *3.

³ In *Romula v. Seattle Public Utilities*, 24 Wn. App. 2d 1037, 2022 WL 17246817 (2022) (unpublished), *review denied*, 1 Wn.3d 1005 (2023), Division I reversed a defense verdict where the trial court's instruction on adverse employment action in a retaliation claim failed to give an instruction like WPI 330.06 and instead limited adverse employment action to termination by the employer only, ignoring adverse actions leading up to termination.

Valdez, 172 Wn.2d 808, 265 P.3d 853, 858 (2011). *See also, Diaz v. State*, 175 Wn.2d 457, 285 P.3d 873 (2012) (juries are presumed to follow instructions in both civil and criminal cases).

The jury here, in fact, followed the trial court's instructions, acting in a deliberative fashion. The jury ruled in Verduzco's favor on retaliation, but against him as to his disparate treatment on racial grounds. *See* Appendix. The jury's selectivity in its decision belies Division II's decision that it was "confused" by the instructions.

Division II's ruling that Instruction 8 is a misstatement of the law and therefore presumptively prejudicial is inconsistent with this Court's holding in *Keller* and the Court of Appeals decision in *Roemmich*, meriting this Court's review. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2). Division II's decision merits review as well under RAP 13.4(b)(4). Instruction 8 combined aspects of WPI 330.01.02 and WPI 330.06, as the Note on Use for each WPI instruction directed. But Division II's opinion seemingly undercuts the direction provided to counsel using the WPIs. Division II's assertion that "something more" was required – differentiation of the claims – goes well beyond the terms of the WPIs themselves, seemingly calling for a whole new instruction. Counsel should be entitled to rely on the direction of the WPIs' Notes on Use, and not to then be subjected to Monday morning quarterbacking on appeal.

Instruction 8 was neither erroneous nor confusing. Division II erred in so concluding. Review is merited. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (4).

(4) <u>Division II Failed to Conduct a Harmless Error</u> <u>Analysis</u>

Regardless of any alleged error in Instruction 8, Division II's analysis of that instruction is devoid of any analysis of its prejudicial effect. Instead, that court summarily *presumed* prejudice from alleged instructional error. Op. 18. Before reversing a judgment on a jury's verdict in a case of retaliation for reporting racial discrimination, Division II was obligated to conduct a harmless error analysis. It failed to do so. Review is merited. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

Generally, to be reversible, even if a jury instruction is an erroneous statement of the law, it must be prejudicial to the party challenging the instruction. "The party challenging an instruction bears the burden of establishing prejudice." Griffin v. West RS, Inc., 143 Wn.2d 81, 91, 18 P.3d 558 (2001). A jury verdict will not be reversed absent prejudice. An erroneous jury instruction is harmless if it is not prejudicial to the substantial rights of the parties and in no way affected the final outcome of the case. Adcox v. Children's Orthopedic Hosp., 123 Wn.2d 15, 36, 864 P.2d 921 (1993); Blaney v. International Association of Machinists & Aerospace Workers, 151 Wn.2d 203, 211, 87 P.3d 757 (2004). As this Court noted in Anfinson, "[p]rejudice is presumed if the instruction misstates the law; prejudice must be demonstrated if the instruction is merely misleading." 174 Wn.2d at 860.

Division II's decision is in direct conflict with this Court's decisions in *Anfinson* and *Griffin*. Both cases require that to be

reversible, any instructions that are misleading and/or confusing must also be proven to prejudice a party. And the burden to establish prejudice is on the party challenging the instruction, here, the County. *Anfinson*, 174 Wn.2d at 860; *Griffin*, 143 Wn.2d at 91.

Given the vital importance of WLAD race discrimination cases, it is particularly important for an appellate court to carefully analyze any prejudice from an allegedly erroneous instruction to discern if the error was ultimately harmless. Division II did not do this necessary analysis, failing to honor the jury's decisionmaking in this WLAD case.

Even if Instruction 8 was erroneous (and it is not), giving that instruction was harmless error that did not affect the outcome of the case. *See Blaney*, 151 Wn.2d at 211. Even when an instruction is found to be a misstatement of the law, the presumption of prejudice is *rebuttable*. *See Anfinson*, 174 Wn.2d at 873. Any alleged error in Instruction 8 was ultimately to the County's actual advantage when the instruction is properly analyzed.

First, the County was not prejudiced because it was fully able to argue its theory of the case, again evidencing that the County sustained no prejudice from Instruction 8. In closing, the County's lawyer addressed adverse employment actions:

So, an adverse employment action is one that materially -- that materially affects the terms, conditions or privileges of employment. So, it has to be more than an inconvenience. It has to be more than just a reassignment of job duties. It has to materially affect your pay and your terms and your privileges. So, it is helpful to think in this case about some of [the] things that did not -- what were some of the actions King County took that did not result in a material change. It's Defendant's contention, and we think that you will find that paid administrative leave is not a material change to the terms, conditions or privileges of employment.⁴

RP 2500. Later in closing, counsel argued:

Let's talk finally and very quickly about Mr. Verduzco's retaliation claim. Instruction 10 tells you about the elements that Mr. Verduzco has to prove. He has to prove he was opposing what he reasonably believed to be racial discrimination and

⁴ The County told the jury in closing that Verduzco's suspension was the only "adverse employment action" the County took against him. RP 2499-2500.

that a substantial factor in the decision to suspend him was his opposition -- was opposing what he reasonably believed to be racial discrimination. You don't go anywhere on this slide if you don't get past No. 1. So, if you can't first determine that Mr. Verduzco was opposing a, you know, a reasonable -- that he was making a reasonable opposition . . . So, if you can't find that element, then there's no way that you can find that there was retaliation and you don't even need to go to element two.

RP 2509-10.

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