FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 2/3/2025 3:26 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Supreme Court No. 1037490 Court of Appeals No. 57052-1-II

## REYNALDO VERDUZCO, Petitioner,

۷.

KING COUNTY, Respondent.

## RESPONDENT KING COUNTY'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

LEESA MANION King County Prosecuting Attorney HEIDI JACOBSEN-WATTS, WSBA #35549 PER JANSEN, WSBA #49966 Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for King County Respondents King County Prosecuting Attorney 701 Fifth Ave, Ste 600 Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 477-1120 Heidi.Jacobsen-Watts@kingcounty.gov Pjansen@kingcounty.gov

#

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

## III. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW IS NOT WARRANTED

This case does not merit review under RAP 13.4(b). Contrary to Verduzco's remonstrations and misplaced policy arguments, this case does not involve a reversal of a jury verdict of race discrimination; indeed, the jury rejected Verduzco's discrimination claims. Instead, this case involves a poorly crafted instruction, offered by Verduzco, which combined WPI 330.06 and WPI 330.01.02 without applying the notes on use, which direct combining the two definitions of "adverse" in a way that "differentiate[s] adverse employment action in disparate treatment claims from adverse employment action in retaliation claims as there are separate definitions for each." *See* WPI 330.06 and WPI 330.01.02, Notes on Use. Review should be denied.

- A. THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION IS NOT IN CONFLICT WITH ANY DECISIONS OF THIS COURT OR THE COURT OF APPEALS UNDER RAP 13.4(b)(1).
  - 1. The Court of Appeals correctly held that the failure to differentiate the definitions was error.

Jury instructions are proper when they permit the parties to argue their theories of the case, do not mislead the jury, and properly inform the jury of the applicable law. *Hue v. Farmboy Spray Co.*, 127 Wn.2d 67, 92, 896 P.2d 682 (1995).

Contrary to Verduzco's argument, the County has never argued, nor did the Court of Appeals hold, that combining WPI 330.06 and WPI 330.01.02 is prohibited. Indeed, the notes on use expressly permit it, as long as the combined instructions differentiate adverse action in disparate treatment claims from adverse action in retaliation claims. WPI 330.06, Note on Use at 343; Verduzco, at \*13. As the Court of Appeals noted, the direction to combine the instructions while differentiating between discrimination and retaliation claims arises from the United States Supreme Court decision in *Burlington* Northern and Santa Fe Railway Co. v. White, 548 U.S. 53, 67-68, 126 S. Ct. 2405, 165 L.Ed. 2d 345 (2006). The court further noted that Washington courts have approved jury instructions that make such a distinction. *Verduzco*,

at \*10, citing *Boyd v. State*, 187 Wn. App. 1, 15, 349 P.3d 864 (2015).

Verduzco did not follow the notes on use; he simply merged the two instructions without differentiation. *Verduzco,* at \*13. Verduzco's assertion that he relied on the notes on use belies the plain language of Instruction 8, which merely appends language from WPI 330.01.02 to WPI 330.06. Verduzco cites no authority to support his disregard for the notes on use, which direct parties to differentiate the definitions in the combined instruction.

Nonetheless, Verduzco argues that the jury instructions mirrored the pattern instructions, did not misstate the law, that the jury was capable of applying the appropriate definition to each claim, and that the jury must have done so, because they did not find for him on his discrimination claims. Petition at 15-16. This argument is fatally flawed because merging WPI 330.06 and WPI 330.01.02 without distinguishing language created a

13

single confusing instruction, unfaithful to either pattern instruction, which made it impossible for the jury to apply the correct standard to Verduzco's respective claims.

The difference between the elements instructions for the disparate treatment claims and the retaliation claim illustrate the error and resulting prejudice. The County stipulated that Verduzco's five-day suspension was an adverse action, but the evidence showed that the actions taken against Verduzco – including his suspension – were in response to his inappropriate behavior, not due to his race or hearing disability. See CP 2545-46 (Instructions 11 and 12 for Verduzco's disparate treatment discrimination claims). Thus, the jury need not have considered the merged "adverse" definitions for Verduzco's discrimination claims if it found no nexus between Verduzco's protected status and the County's actions.

Although the County stipulated that Verduzco's suspension was discipline and discipline was the only example of adverse action given in the jury instructions, Verduzco argued that his paid administrative leave, suspension, and reassignment were all adverse actions. 18RP 2440, 2441, 2451, 2452-53, 2462.

When combined with Verduzco's closing arguments, the erroneous Instruction 8 immediately preceding the cat's-paw and retaliation elements instructions allowed the jury to find for Verduzco on his retaliation claim without appropriately considering whether the suspension was harmful to the point that it would dissuade a reasonable person from making a complaint of discrimination versus as opposed to materially affecting the terms, conditions, or privileges of employment. Put another way, the instruction did not direct the jury to consider whether the allegedly retaliatory action was actually harmful rather than merely having an effect. The

15

Court of Appeals correctly held that Instruction 8 was a misstatement of the law and therefore presumptively prejudiced King County.

Nonetheless, Verduzco argues that an instruction must contain an incorrect standard to be a misstatement of the law, and therefore, that the court's decision conflicts with *Roemmich v. 3M Company*, 21 Wn. App. 939, 956, 509 P.3d 306 (2022) and Keller v. City of Spokane, 146 Wn.2d 237, 250-251, 44 P.3d 845 (2002). Petition at 14. However, as discussed further in the next section, the Court of Appeals held that Instruction 8 *did* contain the incorrect standard. Verduzco, at \*13. Further, the court relied on *Roemmich* (which follows *Keller*) in concluding that King County was presumptively prejudiced because Instruction 8 misstated the law. Id., at \*9, \*13. There is no conflict with published decisions. Review is not merited.

# 2. The Court of Appeals properly analyzed and identified the harm to King County.

Verduzco also argues that the Court of Appeals failed to perform a harmless error analysis; however, he is mistaken on this point as well because the court held that Instruction 8 misstated the law and allowed the jury to apply the wrong legal standard, resulting in presumptive prejudice.

As stated above, jury instructions are proper when they permit the parties to argue their theories of the case, do not mislead the jury, and properly inform the jury of the applicable law. *Hue*, 127 Wn.2d at 92. When an instruction misstates the law, courts presume it to be prejudicial. *Roemmich*, 21 Wn. App. at 956 citing *Keller*, 146 Wn.2d at 250-251.

The Court of Appeals correctly held that:

The meaning of "adverse," depending on the context, has completely different standards. Further, Instruction 8 was immediately followed by Instruction 9 and Instruction 10, which were both related to retaliation. Merging the two standards, without distinction, to be applied to either claims of retaliation or discrimination becomes a misstatement of the law.

Given the lack of differentiation, the jury could well have applied the incorrect legal standard when it considered adverse actions in Verduzco's retaliation claim.

*Verduzco,* at \*13

Because the definitions are two distinct standards, absent additional language as directed by the notes on use, the jury could not know which standard applied to which claim, and the failure to distinguish between the two was a misstatement of the law. *Verduzco,* at \*13-\*14. As a misstatement of the law, Instruction 8 was presumptively prejudicial. *Roemmich, supra.* 

The Court of Appeals' determination that Instruction 8 prejudiced King County is consistent with published decisions by this Court and the Court of Appeals. This Court has held that an objection because of juror confusion necessarily is concerned with prejudice to the party. See Owens v. Anderson, 58 Wn.2d 448, 453, 364 P.2d 14 (1961) (presumption of prejudice from erroneous jury instruction can be overcome if record reveals jury "could not have been misled or confused"); *State v. Emery*, 174 Wn.2d 741, 764, 278 P.3d 653 (2012) (curative instruction "would have eliminated any possible confusion and cured any potential prejudice").

Washington appellate courts have also held that instructions that allow the jury to import the wrong standard are prejudicial. *See, Keller*, 146 Wn.2d at 250 (instruction that allowed jury to premise City's duties on Keller's negligence was misleading and legally erroneous); *State v. Rodriguez*, 121 Wn. App. 180, 185-87, 87 P.3d 1201 (2004) (failure to distinguish "great bodily harm" definitions allowed jury to import the wrong standard for self-defense). In failing to differentiate the definitions, Instruction 8 allowed the jury to import the wrong standard for "adverse" actions by failing to identify the claim to which each standard applied.

Nonetheless, Verduzco argues that the Court of Appeals' holding conflicts with *Griffin* and *Anfinson*.<sup>9</sup> Verduzco is wrong. Those cases simply illustrate that the need to establish prejudice depends on whether an instruction misstates the law; they do not compel a different result in this case.

In *Griffin*, this Court held that an instruction involving a landlord's duty of care to its tenant was a correct statement of the law and that Griffin was not prejudiced because even if the instruction was misleading, the jury still concluded that the defendant breached its duty of care. *Griffin v. W. RS, Inc.*, 143 Wn.2d 81, 92, 18 P.3d 558 (2001). *Griffin* is inapposite because the instruction

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> *Griffin v. W. RS, Inc.*, 143 Wn.2d 81, 18 P.3d 558 (2001); *Anfinson v. FedEx Ground Package Sys., Inc.*, 174 Wn.2d 851, 281 P.3d 289 (2012).

there involved a correct statement of the law, whereas Instruction 8 did not.

In contrast, the instruction in *Anfinson*, by which the jury was to determine employee status, was based on the incorrect and previously rejected "right to control" test. This Court held that the instruction was erroneous and presumptively prejudicial because it was a misstatement of the law. *Anfinson v. FedEx Ground Package Sys., Inc.,* 174 Wn.2d 851, 871-72, 281 P.3d 289 (2012). This Court rejected FedEx's attempts to rebut the presumption of prejudice, as well as its argument that Anfinson was free to argue its theory of the case. *Id.* at 873.

Verduzco also argues that King County was not prejudiced because it could argue its theory of the case. Petition at 20. But this argument fails because as in *Anfinson*, the County's attorney's argument was constrained by the erroneous instruction. *See Anfinson*,174 Wn.2d at 873. Defense counsel's

21

discussion of the instructions in closing argument was necessarily limited to the elements instructions for discrimination and retaliation. Although defense counsel argued generally that actions other than Verduzco's suspension were not adverse and that none of the actions were discriminatory or retaliatory, the confusing and erroneous Instruction 8 prevented counsel from arguing that Verduzco's retaliation claim required the jury to find that the actions taken by the County were harmful and would dissuade a reasonable employee from making a complaint of discrimination.<sup>10</sup> 18RP 2499-2502; 18RP 2509-2511.

The Court of Appeals' ruling conflicts with neither *Griffin* nor *Anfinson*. The court correctly held that Instruction 8 was a misstatement of the law, which

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Thus, if properly instructed, the jury would also have had to consider whether Verduzco was a reasonable employee.

presumptively prejudiced King County. Verduzco fails to rebut the presumption.

Finally, to the extent that a single conclusory statement in his Response Brief constituted an argument, the Court of Appeals properly rejected Verduzco's argument that the instruction placed an additional burden on him. *See* Response Brief at 29; *Verduzco,* at \*13. Aside from the conclusory nature of the argument, it strains credibility that Verduzco would offer and argue for an instruction that increased his burden given the contentiousness of the trial.

This Court should deny review.

# B. THIS CASE DOES NOT INVOLVE A SUBSTANTIAL ISSUE OF PUBLIC IMPORTANCE THAT SHOULD BE DETERMINED BY THIS COURT UNDER RAP 13.4(b)(4).

Contrary to Verduzco's lengthy discussion of the WLAD and policy against reversing jury verdicts, this case presents no compelling public policy issues. Instead, it involves an instructional error caused by Verduzco's own failure to follow the notes on use for combining two instructions in a way that would correctly state the law and not confuse the jury.

Verduzco argues that the liberal construction of the WLAD required the Court of Appeals to "view with caution any actions as to the WLAD that would *narrow* the coverage of the law." Petition at 7-8 (emphasis in original). None of the cases that Verduzco cites for this proposition have any bearing on the issue in this case, nor do those cases or the Court's open letter to the Bar suggest that appellate courts should ignore prejudicially erroneous jury instructions to affirm jury verdicts in WLAD cases. Further, the Court of Appeals did not view Instruction 8 hyper-technically "to upend the jury's verdict," as Verduzco argues. Verduzco offered and the trial court gave a patently erroneous instruction that ignored the notes on use, resulting in a misstatement of

24

the WLAD legal standards and prejudicing the County. The Court of Appeals ruled accordingly. Review is not warranted.

## IV. ADDITIONAL REASONS TO REVERSE WERE RAISED BY KING COUNTY BUT NOT DECIDED BY THE COURT OF APPEALS.

The unpublished decision of the Court of Appeals reversed the judgment entered in the trial court and remanded for a new trial based solely on instructional error. As appellant, King County raised multiple additional assignments of error that were not reached by the Court of Appeals, but which provide additional bases for a new trial. King County maintains that review of the Court of Appeals decision is not warranted. But if review is granted, review of these additional issues may be required under RAP 13.4(d).

Specifically, if this Court were to accept review and reverse the Court of Appeals' decision as to instructional

error, these additional issues, set forth in the Brief of Appellant, will need to be addressed either by this Court or on remand to the Court of Appeals. The issues raised by King County but not reached by the Court of Appeals include the following substantial issues, which are reversible either standing alone or cumulatively: 1) the exclusion of King County's economic damages expert without consideration of the factors set forth in *Burnet v. Spokane Ambulance*, 131 Wn.2d 484, 933 P.2d 1036 (1997); 2) the seating of a biased juror; 3) denial of King County's motion for a new trial; and 4) the excessive noneconomic damages award.

#### V. CONCLUSION

This case does not meet the standards for review by this Court set forth in RAP 13.4(b). Review should be denied.